I. INTRODUCfION

This is the second appeal of an order granting priority to 

respondent Bank of America's lien against sale proceeds over a 

Supplemental Decree of Dissolution awarding one-half of those 

proceeds to appellant Kenneth Treiger. In the first appeal, the 

Supreme Court reversed an order granting priority to the Bank's 

lien, holding that Treiger had priority because his interest was 

secured seven months before the Bank secured a prejudgment writ 

of attachment against only Treiger's former wife's interest in the 

proceeds, who was the sole debtor to the Bank. Bank of America} 

NA. v. Owens, 173 Wn.2d 40, 50, ~ 19, 266 P.3d 211 (2011) 

(Appendix A). 

On remand, the trial court once again granted priority to the 

Bank, based on the Bank's purported in rem claim against Treiger's 

interest in the sale proceeds - a claim that the trial court had 

rejected when it refused to grant the Bank a prejudgment writ of 

attachment on Treiger's interest in the proceeds, in a decision the 

Bank never appealed. The trial court improperly allowed the Bank 

to satisfy the former wife's separate debt from Treiger's award even 

though the Bank earlier failed to secure a prejudgment writ of 

attachment against Treiger's interest in the proceeds. The trial 

1 



court's decision is inconsistent with the Supreme Court's mandate, 

as well as with other decisions holding that absent proof of fraud, a 

creditor cannot satisfy a debt from assets awarded to the debtor's 

former spouse in a decree entered prior to the creditor reducing its 

claim to judgment. This Court should once again reverse and order 

the trial court to enter judgment for Treiger against the Bank. 

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The trial court erred in entering its Order for Summary 

Judgment In Rem on remand from the Supreme Court's decision in 

Bank of America, NA. v. Owens, 173 Wn.2d 40, 266 P.3d 211 

(2011). 

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES 

1. In the earlier appeal, the Supreme Court reversed the 

trial court's decision granting priority to the Bank's lien against the 

proceeds of the Maplewood property over a supplemental decree of 

dissolution ordering the property sold and awarding Treiger one

half of the net proceeds. On remand, did the trial court err in 

granting the Bank's purported in rem claim against the proceeds 

awarded to Treiger and allowing the Bank to satisfy its lien from the 

proceeds of sale before Treiger? 
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2. On remand, the trial court reinstated its earlier 

judgment based on the Bank's in rem claim, which the Bank had 

asserted before the trial court entered its first judgment. In the 

appeal of the first judgment, should the Bank have raised the in rem 

claim as an alternate ground for affirming the trial court's decision 

granting priority to the Bank over Treiger, instead of waiting until 

the Supreme Court reversed and the matter was remanded to the 

trial court? 

3. Only Treiger's former wife is obligated to the Bank for 

an unsecured debt that she personally guaranteed. After Treiger 

and his former wife's marriage was dissolved, Treiger's bankruptcy 

estate paid the Bank nearly $100,000 to discharge the community 

and Treiger from any obligation to the Bank. Did the trial court err 

by allowing the Bank to satisfy the former wife's obligation from the 

proceeds awarded to Treiger in the dissolution action based on the 

Bank's purported in rem claim? 

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

This dispute over priority between the Bank and Treiger has 

been the subject of a previous appeal, and this statement of facts 

is largely supported by citation to the numbered paragraphs in the 

Supreme Court's decision in Bank of America, NA. v. Owens, 173 
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Wn.2d 40,266 P.3d 211 (2011), which is attached as Appendix A to 

this brief. Further support is provided by the Clerk's Papers, which 

are referenced by Volume I (I CP) and Volume II (II CP). Volume I 

is the Clerk's Papers from the earlier appeal, Cause no. 84044-0, 

which have been transferred to this appeal. Volume II is the 

additional Clerk's Papers designated for this appeal. 

A. Owens Personally Guaranteed Two Notes To The 
Bank While She Was Married To Treiger. 

Appellant Kenneth Treiger (Treiger/husband) and J'Amy 

Lynn Owens (Owens/wife) were married on July 4, 1997. (I CP 84; 

Appendix A ~ 3) Owens (but not Treiger) executed promissory 

notes in favor of respondent Bank of America ("the Bank") in 

October 1998 and in May 2000, personally guaranteeing loans from 

the Bank to a business partially owned by Owens. (I CP 148; II CP 

9-21; Appendix A ~ 3) 

Treiger and Owens separated in June 2000, less than three 

years after they married and a month after Owens signed the 

second guarantee to the Bank. (I CP 84, II CP 17-21; Appendix A ~ 

3) On February 22, 2001, Treiger filed a petition to dissolve their 

marriage. (I CP 84; Appendix A ~ 3) 
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B. Treiger Filed For Bankruptcy. His Marriage To 
Owens Was Dissolved. Treiger's Bankruptcy Estate 
Partially Paid Owens' Debt To The Bank And Treiger 
And The Community Were Discharged From Any 
Further Obligation To The Bank. 

On January 30, 2002, while the marital dissolution action 

was pending, Treiger filed for bankruptcy. (I CP 136, 179; Appendix 

A ~ 3) Owens filed her own bankruptcy action less than a month 

later. (I CP 179; Appendix A ~ 3) On June 19, 2002, while both 

bankruptcy actions were pending, the dissolution court dissolved 

the TreigerjOwens marriage, expressly reserving property and debt 

issues until the bankruptcy proceedings were concluded. (I CP 84; 

Appendix A ~ 3) The bankruptcy court subsequently dismissed 

Owens' bankruptcy petition. (I CP 225, II CP 146; Appendix A ~ 4) 

The Bank filed proofs of claim for Owens' notes in Treiger's 

bankruptcy action in December 2003, describing the notes as 

"unsecured nonpriority claims" and a "community obligation of the 

marital community of Kenneth Treiger and J'Amy Lyn Owens." (I 

CP 137; II CP 72-73, 83-84) The Bank's proofs of claim 

acknowledged that a "claim is unsecured if there is no collateral or 

lien on property of the debtor securing the lien." (II CP 72,83) 
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Treiger's bankruptcy estate paid over $95,000 to the Bank 

towards the debt it alleged Owens owed. (I CP 137, 200; II CP 101) 

All community debt and any separate debts of Treiger, including 

any obligation to the Bank, was discharged when Treiger's 

bankruptcy was closed in August 2004. (I CP 137, 173-74; II CP 

100-02) 

C. After Treiger's Bankruptcy Discharged Any 
Community Debt To The Bank, The Dissolution 
Court Ordered Real Property Sold And Awarded 
Treiger One-Half Of The Net Proceeds. 

Treiger and Owens returned to state court on March 21, 

2006, to resolve the property and liability issues of the marriage. 

(II CP 146; Appendix A ~ 5) One of the disputed issues at trial was 

the characterization and distribution the "Maplewood property," 

which Treiger and Owens had purchased as "husband and wife" 

prior to the dissolution of their marriage. (I CP 84-86, 179, 269) 

The bankruptcy court had previously concluded that the 

Maplewood property was community property, and thus property 

of Treiger's bankruptcy estate. (I CP 179-81; Appendix A ~ 4) After 

the marriage was dissolved, but before any property of the marriage 

was distributed, Owens entered into an agreement with the trustee 

in Treiger's bankruptcy to purchase the Maplewood property out of 

Treiger's bankruptcy estate in exchange for $215,000. (I CP 137, 
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186-89; Appendix A ~ 4) This payment was used to partially satisfy 

community debts, including the debt to the Bank. (See I CP 137, 

186-89) 

In the dissolution action, Owens alleged that the Maplewood 

property was now her separate property as a result of her purchase 

of the property out of Treiger's bankruptcy estate. (See I CP 88-89) 

The dissolution court concluded that the bankruptcy action did not 

affect the dissolution court's ability to resolve the parties' rights to 

the Maplewood property (I CP 88-89), and that the bankruptcy 

court's determination that the Maplewood property was community 

property was resjudicata. (I CP 84) The dissolution court ordered 

the parties to sell the Maplewood property (I CP 20) and awarded 

Treiger one-half of the net proceeds from the sale of the Maplewood 

property. (I CP 16, 22; Appendix A ~ 5) 

The supplemental dissolution decree expressly defined "net 

proceeds" as the proceeds from the sale less the costs of sale and the 

outstanding mortgage. (I CP 21) The decree also provided that any 

"lawsuits against the wife or liens or encumbrances against the 

property for wife's debts" would be paid from the wife's share of the 

proceeds: 
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If the parties are unable to clear title due to lawsuits 
against wife or liens or encumbrances against the 
property for wife's debts, wife's share of the property 
(after the payment to husband of the amounts due to 
him) shall be placed in escrow to be held available to 
plaintiff or creditor, provided that the funds shall not 
be set aside unless plaintiff or creditor execute 
documents clearing lis pendens, mechanics liens or 
any other cloud. 

(I CP 22) The supplemental decree of dissolution dividing the 

marital estate was entered on May 9, 2006. (I CP 15-24; Appendix 

A ~ 5) 

D. The Bank Filed An Action Against Owens And In 
Rem Against Any Property Awarded To Treiger For 
The Remaining Balance Owens Owed After Payment 
From Treiger's Bankruptcy Estate. The Bank 
Obtained A Prejudgment Writ Of Attachment Only 
Against Owens' Interest. 

On July 18, 2006, two months after the supplemental decree 

of dissolution was entered, the Bank sued Owens, seeking payment 

from her separately for the unsecured amounts still owed under the 

Promissory Note and Borrowing Agreement after Treiger's 

bankruptcy discharged the community and Treiger's obligations. (I 

CP 138; II CP 3; Appendix A ~ 9) On November 9, 2006, the Bank 

amended its complaint to add a claim "in rem against any and all 

separate property of J'Amy Lyn Owens awarded to Kenneth 

Treiger." (I CP 138; II CP 32) 
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At the same time, the Bank sought a prejudgment writ of 

attachment against the Maplewood property. (I CP 63; II CP 51) In 

its motion, the Bank stated that "the purpose of the prejudgment 

writ of attachment [ ] is to secure a lien on the separate real 

property of J'Amy Owens [the Maplewood property] and in rem 

against any interest in said separate property awarded to Kenneth 

Treiger [ ] so that such property might be levied upon in satisfaction 

of the debt after judgment has been obtained by plaintiff." (II CP 

52) 

The superior court granted the Bank's request only for a writ 

against Owens' interest. (I CP 63; Appendix A ~ 9) In its "Order 

Directing Issuance of Prejudgment Writ Of Attachment On Real 

Property Against Interest In Property Held By J'Amy Lyn Owens 

Only," the court granted the Bank's request for a prejudgment writ 

of attachment in the amount of $351,413.55 only against "the 

defendant J'Amy Owens' interest (including any and all rights to 

proceeds) in that certain real property commonly known as 10623 

Maplewood Place SW, Seattle." (I CP 63-65,68-70) 

The court refused the Bank's request to attach Treiger's 

interest in the Maplewood property and its proceeds. (See I CP 63-

65) The Bank's prejudgment writ of $351,422.55 attached only 
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"J'Amy Lyn Owens' interest (including any and all rights to 

proceeds)" in the Maplewood property. (I CP 63-65,68-70) 

The Bank's prejudgment writ of attachment only against 

Owens' interest in the Maplewood proceeds was recorded on 

December 20, 2006. (I CP 63-65, 66-73) The Bank has never 

sought review of this ruling. 

E. The Trial Court Ordered That The Bank's 
Prejudgment Writ Had Priority Over The Earlier 
Decree Awarding Treiger One-Half The Proceeds. 

The Maplewood property sold in May 2007. (I CP 135; 

Appendix A ~ 10) On May 20, 2007, $1,114,054.83 in proceeds 

were wired to the trustee pursuant. (I CP 147; Appendix A ~ 10) On 

December 14, 2007, the court entered a judgment in the collection 

action in favor of the Bank against Owens in the amount of 

$593,519.24, representing the principal owed, accrued interest, and 

attorney fees of $57,228.09. (I CP 58-61, 148; Appendix A ~ 9) The 

same day the Bank judgment was entered, both Treiger and the 

Bank filed motions asking the court to determine the priority of 

their respective judgments and liens over the other party. (I CP 135, 

144; Appendix A ~ 11) 

The trial court, King County Superior Court Gregory Canova, 

held that "[a]part from the money judgments against Owens 
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specified In the judgment summary contained [in] the 

Supplemental Dissolution Decree, said decree did not grant Treiger 

a lien or other interest in the Maplewood Property." (CL 6, I CP 

294) The trial court refused to pay Treiger his one-half of the "net 

proceeds," as ordered by the dissolution court, before several other 

disbursements, including to the Bank. (I CP 294-96; see Appendix 

A ~ 11) As a result of the trial court's decision, the Bank received 

nearly $700,000, towards a loan of less than $500,000 that Owens 

alone had personally guaranteed. (See I CP 148, 200, 302) Because 

the trial court granted priority to the Bank ahead of Treiger's 

interest in one-half of the net proceeds as defined by the dissolution 

court, Treiger received only $516,149.84, instead of $749,566-46 

from the proceeds of sale that the dissolution court intended. (See I 

CP 250, 294-95) 

F. The Supreme Court Reversed Because The 
Dissolution Decree Gave Treiger An Equitable Lien 
In The Proceeds That Had Priority Over The Bank's 
Later-Filed Prejudgment Writ. The Trial Court 
Ignored The Mandate On Remand. 

Treiger appealed. (I CP 283, 297; Appendix A ~ 11) The 

Supreme Court reversed the trial court, holding that the 

Supplemental Decree "created an equitable lien on the Maplewood 

property in favor of Treiger for one-half of the net proceeds of its 
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sale. Because the Supplemental Decree was entered and recorded 

prior to the Bank's prejudgment writ of attachment, Treiger's lien 

has priority," Treiger was entitled "to one-half of the proceeds of the 

Maplewood property sale before satisfaction of Bank of America's 

lien." (Appendix A ~~ 29, 30) 

On remand, the trial court denied Treiger's motion asking 

the trial court to enter a judgment consistent with the Court's 

decision that reflected Treiger's priority interest in the Maplewood 

proceeds over the Bank's claims. (II CP 265, 457) The trial court 

granted the Bank's motion for a "judgment in rem in the amount of 

$308,990.37, as an existing separate creditor of Ms. Owens at the 

time of the divorce court awarding a portion of her separate 

property to Mr. Treiger." (II CP 457) In direct contradiction to this 

Court's decision, the trial court ruled that "Bank of America's in 

rem judgment is superior to the claims of Mr. Treiger therein" and 

allowed the Bank to satisfy its "in rem judgment" from Treiger's 

one-half of the proceeds of sale. (II CP 457) 

Treiger once again appeals. 
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v. ARGUMENT 

A. The Trial Court Did Not Comply With The Supreme 
Court Mandate Granting Treiger Priority In The 
Maplewood Proceeds Over The Bank. 

The trial court failed to comply with the mandate of the 

Supreme Court, that the supplemental decree entitled Treiger to 

one-half of the proceeds of the Maplewood property sale before the 

Bank's lien was satisfied. Bank of America, NA. v. Owens, 173 

Wn.2d 40, 54-55, ~~ 29-30, 266 P.3d 211 (2011). Instead, the trial 

court's order on remand confirms its earlier ruling, which the 

Supreme Court reversed, giving the Bank priority over Treiger in 

the Maplewood proceeds. 

"Where a cause is reversed and remanded by the appellate 

court, with directions as to the further proceedings of the trial 

court, it is out of the power of the lower court to open the cause and 

have a new trial. It must, and can only, proceed to carry into 

execution the mandate of the superior court." State v. Superior 

Court for Cowlitz County, 71 Wash. 354, 357, 128 P. 648 (1912) 

(citations and quotations omitted). In this case, to "carry into 

execution the mandate" of the Supreme Court, the trial court was 

required to give priority to Treiger's liens, and to allow Treiger to 

satisfy his liens before, and without any claim from, the Bank. The 
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trial court could not ignore the Supreme Court's mandate holding 

that Treiger had priority over the Bank in the Maplewood proceeds. 

The trial court did not have discretion to re-order the lien 

priorities under National Bank of Washington v. Equity Investors, 

83 Wn.2d 435, 442-43, 518 P.2d 1072 (1974). In National Bank, 

the trial court had determined the priorities of three lien holders: 

the Bank, MacDonald, and Columbia. Columbia appealed, 

asserting that its lien had priority over the Bank's. The Supreme 

Court agreed that Columbia's "materialman's lien is superior to the 

bank's lien for later advances, and accordingly reverse[d]." 

National Bank, 83 Wn.2d at 438 (quoting its earlier decision at 81 

Wn.2d 886,927,506 P.2d 20 (1973)). 

On remand from the first appeal, the trial court in National 

Bank nevertheless gave MacDonald's lien priority over Columbia's, 

based on MacDonald's claim that since Columbia had not appealed 

the trial court's earlier ruling that MacDonald was prior to 

Columbia, it was now the "law of the case." The Supreme Court 

reversed again, holding that MacDonald could not "thwart the 

direction of this court that Columbia be paid in full from the 

proceeds of the foreclosure sale." National Bank, 83 Wn.2d at 442. 

The Court held that its earlier decision clearly "intended Columbia's 
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lien claim for materials furnished to be satisfied in full from the 

proceeds of the foreclosure sale prior to the Bank's lien claim." 

National Bank, 83 Wn.2d at 442. 

National Bank controls here. The trial court had no 

discretion on remand to enter an order that in effect reinstated the 

judgment that the Supreme Court had reversed. The Bank cannot 

thwart the Supreme Court's clear direction that Treiger be paid in 

full from the Maplewood proceeds before the Bank's lien was 

satisfied. 

B. The Trial Court On Remand Did Not Have Authority 
To Consider The Bank's In Rem Claim That The 
Bank Failed To Raise As An Alternate Ground To 
Affirm In The Earlier Appeal. 

The Supreme Court held that the Supplemental Decree of 

Dissolution "entitled Kenneth Treiger to one-half of the proceeds of 

the Maplewood property before satisfaction of Bank of America's 

lien," and remanded "to the superior court for further proceedings 

consistent with this opinion." 173 Wn.2d at 54-55 (Appendix A ~~ 

29, 30). The trial court's discretion on remand was limited to 

allowing Treiger to satisfy his liens before, and without any claim 

from, the Bank. The trial court could not consider a different 

ground on which to reinstate its earlier ruling that the Supreme 

15 



Court already reversed, to allow the Bank to take from the proceeds 

before Treiger. 

In determining the trial court's authority on remand, a 

distinction is made "between what the superior court was obligated 

to do without the exercise of any discretion and the area within 

which it could exercise its discretion." Marriage of McCausland, 

129 Wn. App. 390, 399, ~ 16, 118 P.3d 944 (2005), overruled on 

other grounds, 159 Wn.2d 607, 152 P.3d 1013 (2007). The trial 

court had no discretion to ignore the Supreme Court's mandate and 

order the same relief that the Supreme Court had previously 

reversed. 

In McCausland, Division Two reversed the trial court's 

decision after an earlier appeal because the trial court failed to 

adhere to the mandate on remand, instead entering an order that 

had the effect of reinstating its earlier ruling. Division Two held 

that in a second appeal "the remand did not open all other possible 

dissolution-related issues nor could the trial court ignore our 

specific holdings and directions on remand." McCausland, 129 Wn. 

App. at 400, ~ 18; see also Coy v. Raabe, 77 Wn.2d 322, 325, 462 

P.2d 214 (1969) (affirming the trial court's decision on remand 
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refusing to grant an offset to the judgment directed by the Supreme 

Court that was not addressed in the earlier decision). 

Like the trial court on remand in McCausland, the trial court 

here improperly entered an order that in effect reinstated its earlier 

ruling and gave the Bank priority over Treiger in the Maplewood 

proceeds. While the appellate court's use of the word "reconsider" 

in its mandate in McCausland may have created a question whether 

the trial court had some discretion on remand in that case, no such 

doubt was possible here. The Supreme Court here did not direct the 

trial court to "reconsider" anything on remand. Instead, the 

Supreme Court clearly remanded with directions to the trial court 

to act "consistent with this opinion." 173 Wn.2d at 55 (Appendix A 

~ 29)· 

Remand from the Supreme Court was not an opportunity for 

the Bank to raise a different ground to support the trial court's 

earlier decision. If the Bank believed that its in rem claim was a

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