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

and the Griggs court cautioned that its "holding is limited necessarily to 

such narrow facts." Id. at 586. 

In Griggs, an action was commenced against the Branches during 

their marriage. Id. at 578. After their divorce, a default judgment was 

entered against each of the Branches (but not their community), jointly 

and severally, after they failed to appear for trial. Id. at 579. Mrs. Branch 

then obtained an order vacating the default judgment entered against her, 

on the ground of excusable neglect. Id. at 580. Her reinstated case went to 

trial, and she prevailed on the merits. Id. The plaintiffs appealed, and 

while the appeal was pending, they attempted to enforce their default 

judgment against Mr. Branch, which had not been vacated. Id. They 

sought to execute on former community property awarded to Mrs. Branch 

in her divorce decree, but Mrs. Branch obtained an order restraining the 

execution. Id. at 580-81. 

This Court affirmed the trial court's entry of the restraining order. 

Id. at 586. Because the plaintiffs had not obtained the judgment against 

Mr. Branch during the marriage, and because Mrs. Branch had prevailed 

on the merits on the claim against her, the Court held that the plaintiffs 

were unable to reach the former community assets awarded to Mrs. 

Branch by the divorce court. 
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The result in Griggs was reached because the asset owner before 

the divorce court award (the marital community) did not match the only 

obligor under the debt (Mr. Branch separately). In other words, under that 

particular set of facts, the community property awarded to Mrs. Branch 

was not liable for the separate debt of Mr. Branch. 

The circumstance in Griggs is not present in the case at bar. Here, 

the asset owner before the divorce court award (Owens separately) 

matches the obligor under the debt (Owens separately). Thus, the separate 

property of Owens awarded to Treiger was liable for the existing equitable 

claims of Owens' separate creditors, including Bank of America. 

In his brief, Treiger asserts that the pertinent case law discusses 

existing community, not existing separate liabilities. This is a distinction 

without a difference. There is no logical reason why, in equity, a separate 

asset subject to a separate debt should be treated differently than a 

community asset subject to a community debt. In each case, any existing 

equitable claims by a creditor against an asset travel with the asset upon it 

being awarded to a spouse in a dissolution decree. The statute governing 

such awards between spouses makes no distinction between community 

and separate property; either can be awarded to either spouse if the 

equities of the case demand it. RCW A 26.09.080. 
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Treiger's fundamental argument, that Bank of America needed to 

secure its equitable claim against Owens' separate property before the 

property award to him occurred, is simply wrong. The well-established 

case law discussed above demonstrates the contrary. In both Watters and 

Farrow, the creditors had not reduced their equitable claims to judgment 

at the time the liable property was awarded to the non-liable spouse. 

Watters, 95 Wn.2d at 836-37; Farrow, 16 Wn.2d at 553. 

Further, as is discussed in the following section, the result urged by 

Treiger is not constitutionally tenable. 

2. A Divorce Court Cannot Constitutionally Award Property 
to a Spouse Free and Clear of an Existing Creditor's 
Equitable Claim. 

A basic tenet of divorce law is that only the spouses are parties to 

the proceeding; their creditors are not. A court presiding over a dissolution 

proceeding has no jurisdiction over the creditors of the spouses and thus 

has no ability to modify the rights of those creditors. This is a fundamental 

due process protection afforded creditors, as this Court has recognized: 

The spouses are made parties to a divorce action by 
due process and the state is made one by statute. The 
children are not parties, but, as a subject of the action, they 
have been made the chief concern of both the legislature 
and the courts. Other persons can not [sic] be made parties 
to the action by any statutory form of notice, nor can they 
intervene therein. It would appear elementary then, that 
there is no due process of law in a divorce action as to the 
rights of creditors of the spouses. The judgment can neither 
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conclusively determine their rights, nor be made available 
on their behalf as a basis for any of the provisional 
remedies. 

Arneson, 38 Wn.2d at 101 (emphasis added). 

In Arneson, the divorce court decreed that certain real property be 

sold and that the proceeds be applied to taxes, existing liens, with the 

remainder prorated to creditors in the amounts of their respective claims. 

Id. at 100. This decree left nothing to be distributed to the spouses. Id. 

This Court reversed, holding that the divorce court had overreached. Id. at 

101-03. The Court emphasized an important principle: The spouses' 

"several interests in the property [before the court for distribution] are, of 

course, determined, as between themselves, by the decree." Id. at 101. 

In other words, a dissolution decree is binding on the spouses, 

whose rights it determines, but it has no such effect on parties not before 

the court, such as creditors. In re Marriage 0/ McKean, 110 Wn. App. 

191, 195,38 P.3d 1053 (2002) (citing Arneson, 38 Wn.2d at 101; In re 

Marriage o/Soriano, 44 Wn. App. 420,422, 722 P.2d 132 (1986)). Before 

a court can extinguish a person's property interest in an action, due 

process requires that the person be joined as a party in the action. See 

Brost v. L.A.N.D., Inc., 37 Wn. App. 372,374,680 P.2d 453 (1984) (citing 

Valentine v. Portland Timber & Land Holding Co., 15 Wn. App. 124, 128, 

547 P.2d 912 (1976); G. Osborne, Mortgages § 321 (2d ed. 1970)). 
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The court that dissolved the marriage of Owens and Treiger did not 

have jurisdiction over Bank of America. The supplemental decree entered 

in that matter has no bearing on the rights of Bank of America in Owens' 

separate property. Judge Canova did not err when he ruled that the 

supplemental decree did not convey the separate property of Owens to 

Treiger free and clear of Bank of America's existing equitable claim. A 

ruling in favor of Treiger on the in rem claim would have made a mockery 

of Bank of America's constitutional right to due process oflaw. 

B. Bank of America Had No Duty to Raise an Alternate Ground to 
Affirm in Treiger's First Appeal. 

Treiger's argument that Bank of America should have raised its in 

rem claim in his first appeal is meritless. It was Treiger who appealed the 

trial court's lien priority decision; Bank of America was the respondent. In 

his briefing, Treiger did not appeal the preservation and tolling of the in 

rem claim, as was his obligation if he was displeased with it. As such, it 

became a final, non-appealable order, and the law of the case. As the 

initial prevailing party, Bank of America did not cross-appeal to the Court 

of Appeals and had no obligation under the Rules of Appellate Procedure 

to urge the Court of Appeals or this Court to review the preservation 

ruling. 
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The scope of review is determined by the appellant. RAP 2.4(a). A 

respondent may ask the appellate court to review acts which may 

prejudice it if repeated upon remand, but there is no obligation to do so. 

Id. Under that rule, then, the scope of review in the first appeal was 

limited to the issues raised by Appellant Treiger. 

Treiger never assigned error to Judge Canova's preservation of 

Bank of America's in rem claim. His argument that Bank of America 

somehow had a duty to raise or argue that claim on appeal flies in the face 

of the plain language of RAP 2.4(a). 

Nor did RAP 2.5(a) require Bank of America to present the in rem 

claim as an alternate ground for affirming the trial court's lien priority 

ruling. This rule is expressly permissive: "A party may present a ground 

for affirming a trial court decision which was not presented to the trial 

court if the record has been sufficiently developed to fairly consider the 

ground." RAP 2.5(a) (emphasis added). 

The cases cited by Treiger merely discuss that an appellate court 

may affirm a trial court's decision on whatever grounds are supported by 

the record; however, nowhere in the cases cited by Treiger is there any 

type of obligation imposed on a respondent to raise an alternative basis for 

affirming the lower court's decision. That is because RAP 2.5(a) is 

expressly permissive. 
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For example, in Redding v. Virginia Mason Medical Center, 75 

Wn. App. 424, 426, 878 P.2d 483 (1994), an appellate court's power to 

affirm a trial court's decision on any basis supported by the record was 

discussed; no obligation of a party to point out such a basis was 

mentioned. And in LaPlante v. State, 85 Wn.2d 154, 158, 531 P .2d 299 

(1975), the Court likewise held that a correct judgment can be sustained 

by an appellate court on any theory supported by the record. Again, the 

Court was discussing the power of an appellate court, not any obligation 

or duty of a party to the appeal. 

Two cases cited by Treiger are of dubious relevance indeed. See 

LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Group, LLC, 168 Wn. App. 862, 279 

P.3d 448 (2012), amended by 287 P.3d 628 (Wash. Ct. App. 2012); Katare 

v. Katare (In re Marriage of Katare), 125 Wn. App. 813, 105 P.3d 44 

(2004). Treiger cites these cases, in which cross-appeals occurred, for the 

proposition that cross-appeals were required. Of course, these courts said 

no such thing. LK Operating and Katare do not relate to the matter before 

this Court; moreover, these cases provide absolutely no support for 

Treiger's assertion that a respondent has an obligation to cross-appeal an 

order under which it is the prevailing party. 

Treiger also argues that the resurrection of the in rem claim after 

the appellate reversal of the lien priority ruling contravenes the general 

22 



policy of discouraging piecemeal appeals. This argument fails, as Treiger 

has only himself to blame for the fact that this case is now before the 

Court for the second time. First, no one forced him to file a second appeal; 

he chose to do so. Second, ifhe was truly concerned with the possibility of 

multiple appeals, it was within his power as the appellant in the first 

appeal to more broadly define its scope. 

Finally, one portion of Treiger's argument deserves special 

scrutiny. In his brief, Treiger incorrectly states that Bank of America "had 

actually lost on the [in rem] claim it attempted to resurrect on remand." 

(Appellant's Br. 19.) This statement misstates both the law and the facts. 

The final substantive ruling on the merits of Bank of America's in 

rem claim was not made by the trial court until Judge Canova entered the 

Order for Summary Judgment In Rem on May 15, 2012. (II CP 455-60). 

Contrary to Treiger's assertion, the prior interlocutory Order on December 

14, 2006, which related to the Motion for Prejudgment Writ of 

Attachment, was not a final ruling on the merits of the in rem claim. 

Rather, it was merely an interlocutory ruling on that Motion. (I CP 63-65). 

By definition, any ruling on a prejudgment attachment motion is 

interlocutory and cannot be a final ruling on the merits. This is because the 

matter is before the court prejudgment (i.e., before final substantive 

rulings on the causes of actions asserted are made). Moreover, it is well 
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established that trial courts have the power to amend and change prior 

interlocutory orders. As the Court of Appeals has noted: 

In the early case of Balfour-Guthrie lnv. Co. v. 
Geiger, our Supreme Court recognized the distinction 
between an interlocutory order and a final order or 
judgment for purposes of finality. There, the trial court had 
initially appointed a receiver to take possession of property 
during a foreclosure proceeding. The court later vacated its 
order. On appeal, the Supreme Court concluded that the 
trial judge was free to correct its "improvident" 
appointment of the receiver at any time before entry of the 
final decree of foreclosure. According to the court, "The 
order [appointing the receiver] was interlocutory, and, until 
the case terminated in a final judgment, the court retained 
jurisdiction, which carried with it the right to vacate any 
previous order improvidently made." 

The principle of this case has been unmodified by 
subsequent case authority. It is also consistent with the 
Black's Law Dictionary definition of the word 
interlocutory: 

Provisional; interim; temporary; not final. 
Something intervening between the 
commencement and the end of a suit which 
decides some point or matter, but is not a 
final decision of the whole controversy. An 
interlocutory order or decree is one which 
does not finally determine a cause of action 
but only decides some intervening matter 
pertaining to the cause, and which requires 
further steps to be taken in order to enable 
the court to adjudicate the cause on the 
merits. 

Alwood v. Aukeen Dist. Court, 94 Wn. App 396, 399-400, 973 P.2d 

12 (1999) (citing Balfour-Guthrie lnv. Co. v. Geiger, 20 Wash. 
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579, 579-80, 56 P. 370 (1899); Black's Law Dictionary 815 (6th 

ed. 1990)) (emphasis added). 

Treiger's willingness to misstate the factual and procedural history 

of this case further undermines his contention that Bank of America, as the 

initial prevailing party, was somehow obligated to either raise an alternate 

ground for affirmance in his first appeal or to cross-appeal. This argument 

simply has no merit. 

C. The Trial Court Obeyed the Mandate Following Remand. 

The trial court strictly followed this Court's Mandate when it used 

its discretion to dispose of the remaining in rem claim upon remand. 

"[T]he language 'we remand for further proceedings' signals [the 

appellate] court's expectation that the trial court will exercise its discretion 

to decide any issue necessary to resolve the case." In re Marriage of 

Rockwell, 157 Wn. App. 449, 453, 238 P.3d 1184 (2010) (citing State v. 

Schwab, 134 Wn. App. 635, 645, 141 P.3d 658 (2006)). This type of 

remand is distinguished from the type in which the appellate court directs 

the trial court to do a specific act, such as enter a judgment in a certain 

amount or enter a specific order. Harp v. Am. Sur. Co. of NY., 50 Wn.2d 

365,368,311 P.2d 988 (1957). 

Treiger's argument regarding compliance with the Mandate is 

premised on the erroneous assertion that the Court issued a "specific 
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direction" remand, as described in Harp. (Appellant's Br. 13.) On the 

contrary, the Court issued an "exercise of discretion" remand, as described 

in Rockwell. It remanded for further proceedings. It did not direct the trial 

court to enter a judgment in favor of Treiger. Had the Court wished the 

trial court to simply enter judgment for him, it could have issued this 

specific direction. Instead, correctly recognizing that the in rem claim 

below was no longer moot due to the reversal of the lien priority ruling, 

the Court omitted any such specific direction to the trial court, instead 

implicitly directing Judge Canova to exercise his discretion in resolving 

that preserved claim. 

After reversal and remand, a ruling against the successful appellant 

on an issue closely related to the overturned ruling does not constitute 

noncompliance with the mandate. For example, in Monroe v. Winn, 19 

Wn.2d 462, 464-65,142 P.2d 1022 (1943), a closely analogous trust case, 

this Court reversed the trial court in the first appeal, ruling that none of the 

parties could recover attorney fees on appeal from another party. After 

remand, the trial court nevertheless proceeded to award such fees from the 

trust estate. Id. at 463-64. On a second appeal, the Court affirmed this 

exercise of discretion by the trial court upon remand, explaining that the 

question of whether fees should be awarded from the trust estate "was not 

before [it in the first appeal] and was a question that would have to be 
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heard and determined by the trial court when the case again came before 

it." Id. at 465. 

Here, as in Monroe, the question of whether Bank of America 

could recover under its in rem claim was never before this Court; it was 

thus appropriately resolved by the trial court after remand, even though the 

ruling went against Treiger. 

Out of state authority exists that is directly on point, as well. In 

Southern Tool & Supply, Inc. v. Beerman Precision Inc., 818 So. 2d 256, 

257 (La. Ct. App. 2002), a state antitrust action was brought against the 

defendants. They filed exceptions alleging both lack of subject matter 

jurisdiction and "no cause of action." Id. at 257-58. The trial court 

dismissed the antitrust claims on the first ground, which mooted the 

second "no cause of action" exception. Id. at 263. The dismissal was 

reversed on appeal, which revived the "no cause of action" exception. Id. 

Because the trial court had not ruled on this second exception, the case 

was remanded "to the trial court for its consideration [of] the exception of 

no cause of action." Id. 

Similarly, in Reyher v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance 

Co., 171 P.3d 1263, 1267 (Colo. Ct. App. 2007), the trial court granted

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